ZONING, PLATTING & ADVISORY COMMITTEE (ZPAC) January 3, 2023 – Approved Meeting Minutes

PBZ Chairman Seth Wormley called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

<u>Present:</u> Matt Asselmeier – PBZ Department Meagan Briganti – GIS Department Fran Klaas – Highway Department Alyse Olson – Soil and Water Conservation District Aaron Rybski – Health Department Seth Wormley – PBZ Committee Chair

<u>Absent:</u> Greg Chismark – WBK Engineering, LLC David Guritz – Forest Preserve Brian Holdiman – PBZ Department Commander Jason Langston – Sheriff's Department

<u>Audience:</u> Michael Cook

AGENDA

Mr. Klaas made a motion, seconded by Mr. Rybski, to approve the agenda as presented.

With a voice vote of six (6) ayes, the motion carried.

MINUTES

Mr. Rybski made a motion, seconded by Ms. Briganti, to approve the December 6, 2022, meeting minutes.

With a voice vote of five (5) ayes, the motion carried. Ms. Olson abstained.

PETITION

Petition 22–27 Deb Howard on Behalf of Jade Restorations, Inc. (Current Owner) and Bullmastiff Construction Company LTD (Contractor)

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

On February 18, 2020, the County Board approved Ordinance 2020-01, granting a special use permit for a kennel and veterinary at the northeast corner of Ridge Road and Bell Road, now addressed as 949 Bell Road, Minooka.

During the summer of 2022, the Planning, Building and Zoning Department received complaints regarding lights at the subject property. Upon investigation, Staff discovered that the site had not been developed in accordance with the site plan, landscaping plan, and photometric plan attached to the special use permit ordinance. The property owner agreed to amend the special use permit to have the site plan, landscaping plan, and photometric plan attached is plan, and photometric plan to match the current conditions. The specific amendments are as follows (items in red are Staff comments):

- 1. Fence limits on the west side of the building are different with a larger outdoor area enclosed and extended further south. The installed fence height is eight feet (8'), not six feet (6') as described in the associated exhibits attached to Ordinance 2020-01. The fence was a cedar fence in the approved plans; the installed fence was vinyl.
- 2. Westerly septic field is enclosed within the expanded fenced outdoor plan area. Westerly septic tank is installed further north than previously proposed. The southerly septic tank/piping was designed to be on the east side of the main entry, but was installed on the west side of the entry.
- 3. The Rusty Ridge sign at the southwest corner of the site is located within the Kendall County right-of-way. This will be relocated as part of the major amendment to the originally proposed location at a ten foot (10') setback from the right-of-way along the middle of the property west of the proposed location. No information was provided regarding the other sign. The approved plans had one (1) monument sign along Bell Road and one (1)

monument sign along Ridge Road. Both signs were to be four feet by eight feet (4'X8') and a maximum of eight feet (8') in height. Neither sign will be illuminated.

- 4. Sidewalk has been added around the building that was not part of the original plans. There is a gravel driveway/PCC walk along the north side of the building for equestrian trailer access. Additional parking was added in the northeast corner of the building. Number of parking stalls increased from fifty-two (52) to sixty-five (65). The number of handicapped accessible parking spaces remains at three (3).
- 5. The east side walkway/covered entrance/building was eliminated and the walk is shown coming out of the south side of the building.
- 6. A five thousand (5,000) gallon external tank was previously proposed next to the well for fire protection. This was not constructed. Tank was installed in basement of building per discussions with the Minooka Fire Department.
- 7. An additional wall pack was added along the west wall of the building as the play area was enlarged/moved from the northeast corner of building. As built-photometric plan was unchanged and light intensities at west property line are still zero point zero (0.0) foot candles. Change in location of lights. Number of pole lights to remain the same. Height of pole lights to remain the same.
- The concrete pad for trash enclosure is installed but no walls have been constructed. Concrete pad relocated further north to allow equestrian trailer access along the north side of the building from the parking lot. Petitioner still plans to install the seven foot (7') tall masonry or wood fencing around the refuse area per the approved plans.
- 9. Well head installed further north of design location.
- 10. Outdoor play area was eliminated on the northeast corner of building due to the installation of air handling units. Original plans called for two (2) approximately twelve thousand (12,000) square foot outdoor play areas are planned on both sides of the kennel wing of the building.
- 11. A three thousand, one hundred (3,100) gallon holding tank was eliminated that was previously proposed for therapy pool/dog wash. Therapy pool was eliminated from building.
- 12. Per Seward Township Board meeting of December 13, 2022, Owner and Township Agreed that building and parking lot lighting will be turned off at 10:00 p.m. every night and all parking lot lighting and building lighting and building wall packs will be installed with cutoffs or shields. Security lighting has motion sensors.
- 13. Owner is requesting a variation to Kendall County Zoning Ordinance 7:01.D.29 for A-1 special use and modify "Condition G" of 2020-01 special use ordinance to State the following: "All pets shall be indoors between the hours of sunset and sunrise except for the purposes of owners dropping-off and picking-up pets and necessary bathroom breaks until 10:00 p.m. each evening."
- 14. Change in vegetation count from thirty-eight (38) shade trees of various types, seventy-eight (78) evergreen trees of various types, sixty-eight (68) evergreen shrubs of various types, two hundred eighty-two (282) deciduous shrubs of various types, and one hundred fifteen (115) perennials of various types to thirty (30) ornamental trees of various types, twenty-six (26) trees of various types, forty-nine (49) evergreen trees of various types, and one hundred sixty-nine (169) shrubs of various types.

The application material, proposed site plan, proposed landscaping plan, proposed photometric plan, building elevations, and Ordinance 2020-01 were provided.

The conditions in Ordinance 2020-01 are as follows:

- A. The site shall be developed substantially in accordance with the attached site plan attached hereto as Exhibit C, landscaping plan attached hereto as Exhibit D, and photometric plan attached hereto as Exhibit E.
- B. Within sixty days (60) days of approval of this special use permit ordinance, the property owners shall convey land to Kendall County and Seward Township for Ridge Road and Bell Road right-of-way in the locations and depths shown on the Right-of-Way Plat of Dedication attached hereto as Exhibit F.

- C. The use allowed by this special use permit shall be located a minimum of two hundred fifty feet (250') from the lot line of lots zoned residential or shown as Residential on the Land Resource Management Plan (LRMP) map and One Hundred Fifty Feet (150') from Lots Zoned Other Than Residential or Shown on the LRMP Map as non-residential.
- D. Two (2) non-illuminated signs may be installed on the subject property in substantially the locations shown on the site plan (Exhibit C).
- E. All vegetation and berms shall be installed within six (6) months of the opening of either the kennel or veterinary establishment at the subject property. The businesses shall be considered open on the date when the Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Department issues a certificate of occupancy for the building. Damaged or dead vegetation shall be replaced on a timeframe approved by the Kendall County Planning, Building Department.
- F. A maximum of eighty (80) dogs and twenty-five (25) cats may be kenneled on the subject property at any time.
- G. All pets shall be indoors between the hours of sunset and sunrise except for the purposes of owners droppingoff and picking-up pets.
- H. In the event that the kennel operations cease at the property, the veterinary business allowed by this special use permit may not board animals overnight except for medical treatment and observations.
- I. The normal hours of operation for the businesses allowed by this special use permit shall be Monday through Friday from 6:00 a.m. until 7:00 p.m. and Saturday and Sunday from 7:00 a.m. until 7:00 p.m. The operator(s) of the business allowed by this special use permit may reduce these hours of operation. Pets experiencing medical emergencies at the kennel may be tended to outside the hours of operation. The veterinary establishment may be open beyond the hours of operation listed to handle medical emergencies.
- J. The maximum combined number of employees for the businesses allowed by this special use permit shall be seventy (70), including the business owners.
- K. Refuse shall be removed from the subject property at least one (1) time per week or as necessary to prevent litter or odors from emanating from the subject property.
- L. Any construction on the property related to the businesses allowed by this special use permit shall not be considered as agricultural purposes and shall secure applicable permits.
- M. The operator(s) of the businesses allowed by this special use permit may sell ancillary items related to their operations.
- N. The operator(s) of the businesses allowed by this special use permit acknowledge and agree to follow Kendall County's Right to Farm Clause.
- O. The operator(s) of the businesses allowed by this special use permit shall follow all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws related to the operation of these types of businesses.
- P. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment or revocation of the special use permit.
- Q. If one or more of the above conditions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining conditions shall remain valid.

The right-of-way dedication required called for in condition 2 occurred.

The proposed amendments would impact conditions 1 and 7. Mr. Asselmeier also said not all vegetation was installed per condition 5. The remaining conditions shall remain valid and in effect.

The property is approximately twenty (20) acres and the special use area is approximately eight point five (8.5) acres.

The current land use is agricultural, veterinary, and kennel.

ZPAC Meeting Minutes 01.03.23

The future land use map calls for the property to be commercial.

Ridge Road is a County Road classified as an Arterial Road. Bell Road is a Township Road classified as a Minor Collector.

Minooka has a trail planned along Ridge Road. Shorewood has a trail planned along Bell Road.

The adjacent land uses are agricultural, farmstead, and landscaping business.

The adjacent properties are zoned A-1 and A-1 special use.

The Land Resource Management Plan calls for the area to be Suburban Residential, Commercial, and Mixed Use Business.

The properties within one half (1/2) of a mile are zoned A-1, A-1 special use, and R-1.

There are twelve (12) homes located within one half (1/2) mile of the subject property.

The special uses to the north and south are landing strips. The special use to the east is for natural gas compression. The special use to the west is for a landscaping business.

EcoCat submitted on December 5, 2019, and consultation was terminated.

The NRI that was prepared for the original special use permit remains valid. The LESA Score was 207 indicating a medium level of protection. NRI information was provided

Seward Township was emailed information on December 27, 2022. As noted previously, Seward Township reviewed the proposal prior to application submittal.

The Minooka Fire Protection District was emailed information on December 27, 2022. They responded on December 29, 2022, saying they had no stipulations regarding the proposal. The email was provided.

The Village of Shorewood was emailed information on December 27, 2022.

The proposed Findings of Fact for the special use permit amendment were as follows:

That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. The operation of the special use will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. The immediately adjacent properties are also zoned A-1 or A-1 with a special use permit. In addition, the site plan shows an eight foot (8') tall fence around the outdoor play area. The proposed landscaping and berming should also reduce noise coming from the property. The Petitioners are requesting a variance to allow animals to be outdoors until 10:00 p.m. but only for the purposes of dropping-off and picking-up by owners and for necessary bathroom breaks.

That the special use will not be substantially injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood. The Zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question shall be considered in determining consistency with this standard. The proposed use shall make adequate provisions for appropriate buffers, landscaping, fencing, lighting, building materials, open space and other improvements necessary to insure that the proposed use does not adversely impact adjacent uses and is compatible with the surrounding area and/or the County as a whole. The Petitioners installed fencing and security lighting. The Petitioners submitted a photometric plan showing no lighting spilling onto adjoining properties. The Petitioners agreed to have animals indoors by sunset, except for specific purposes as mentioned in the previous finding. The proposed hours of operation will also prevent injury to neighboring land uses.

That adequate utilities, access roads and points of ingress and egress, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided. This is true. Adequate ingress and egress has been provided off of Bell Road. The Petitioners have secured applicable permits and installed adequate facilities related to stormwater, well, and septic systems.

That the special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the County Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals. The Petitioners are requesting a variance to Section 7:01.D.29 of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance to allow the animals to be outdoors for specific purposes as outlined in the first finding.

That the special use is consistent with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource Management Plan and other adopted County or municipal plans and policies. True, the proposed use is consistent with an objective found on Page 9-21 of the Kendall County Land Resource Management Plan which calls for "a strong base of agricultural, commerce and industry that provides a broad range of job opportunities, a healthy tax base, and improved quality of services to County residents." The Land Resource Management Plan calls for the subject property to be commercial.

The proposed Findings of Fact for the variance were as follows:

That the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property involved would result in a particular hardship or practical difficulty upon the owner if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out. No topographic condition creates a particular hardship for the Petitioner.

That the conditions upon which the requested variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to other property within the same zoning classification. Other requests for special use permits for kennels could ask for the same variation.

That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest in the property. The current owner was not involved with the drafting of the existing language in the Zoning Ordinance. The current owner cannot control the times for sunset or sunrise.

That the granting of the variation will not materially be detrimental to the public welfare or substantially injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located. The requested variance should not negatively impact any of the neighbors and will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other property if the animals are outside for the purposes of pick-up and drop-off or to use the restroom and for no other purposes.

That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets or increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. The requested variance will not impair light reaching other properties, cause congestion on any public street, or diminish or impair property values.

Staff recommended approval of the requested variance and amendments to the existing special use permit for a kennel and veterinary establishment subject to the following conditions and restrictions:

1. Condition 2.A of Ordinance 2020-01 is hereby repealed in its entirety and is replaced with the following:

"The site shall be developed substantially in accordance with the site plan, landscaping plan, and photometric plan."

2. Condition 2.G of Ordinance 2020-01 is hereby repealed in its entirety and is replaced with the following:

"All pets shall be indoors between the hours of sunset and sunrise except for the purposes of owners dropping-off and picking-up pets and necessary bathroom breaks until 10:00 p.m. each evening. This provision is a variance to a requirement contained in Section 7:01.D.29 of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance."

- 3. The remaining conditions and restrictions contained in Ordinance 2020-01 shall remain valid and effective.
- 4. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment or revocation of the special use permit.
- 5. If one or more of the above conditions or restrictions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining conditions shall remain valid.
- 6. These major amendments to an existing special use permit and variance shall be treated as covenants running with the land and are binding on the successors, heirs, and assigns as to the same special uses conducted on the property.

Staff is also of the opinion that the requirement that animals in kennels be indoors between the hours of sunset and sunrise should be revisited through the text amendment process and that specific hours not connected to sunrise or sunset be set.

Mr. Asselmeier asked about the timeline to install vegetation. Mike Cook, Engineer for the Petitioner, said that vegetation will be installed in by June 1, 2023.

Mr. Cook provided a history of the development of the site. He discussed the relocation of the sign. He verified the impervious surface information. He discussed the changes to outdoor play area and fence height. He also discussed the need for the variance regarding having the pets outdoors after sunset. He explained the cutoffs, timers, and motion sensors associated with the lights.

Mr. Rybski made a motion, seconded by Mr. Klaas, to recommend approval of the proposal.

The votes were followsAyes (6):Asselmeier, Briganti, Klaas, Olson, Rybski, and WormleyNays (0):NoneAbstain (0):NoneAbsent (4):Chismark, Guritz, Holdiman, and Langston

The motion passed.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on January 25, 2023.

REVIEW OF PETITIONS THAT WENT TO COUNTY BOARD

None

OLD BUSINESS/NEW BUSINESS

February 4, 2023 Kendall County Regional Planning Commission Annual Meeting

Mr. Asselmeier reported that the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission Annual Meeting will be February 4, 2023, at 9:00 a.m., in the County Boardroom.

None

CORRESPONDENCE

None

PUBLIC COMMENT

ADJOURNMENT

Mr. Klaas made a motion, seconded by Mr. Rybski, to adjourn.

With a voice vote of six (6) ayes, the motion carried.

The ZPAC, at 9:20 a.m., adjourned.

Respectfully Submitted, Matthew H. Asselmeier, AICP, CFM Senior Planner

Enc.

Matt Asselmeier

From:	Mary Ludemann <ludemannm@minookafire.com></ludemannm@minookafire.com>
Sent:	Thursday, December 29, 2022 9:21 AM
То:	Matt Asselmeier
Cc:	mcook
Subject:	[External]RE: Kendall County Zoning Petition 22-27

CAUTION - This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Matthew,

The Minooka Fire Protection District has no stipulations regarding Kendall County Zoning Petition 22-27.

Take care,

Mary Kay Ludemann, Fire Inspector Minooka Fire Protection District 7901 E. Minooka Road P.O. Box 736 Minooka, IL 60447 (815) 467-5637 ext. 113 www.minookafire.com